## UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

	)
GEORGE M. CLARKE, III	)
Baker & McKenzie LLP	)
815 Connecticut Avenue, N.W.	)
Washington, D.C. 20006-4078	)
(202) 452-7000,	)
	)
Plaintiff,	)
<b>v.</b>	) Civil Action No.
INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE	)
1111 Constitution Avenue, NW	)
Washington, DC 20224,	)
_	)
Defendant.	)
	)

#### **COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF**

1. This is an action under the Freedom of Information Act (the "FOIA"), 5 U.S.C. §552, as amended, seeking injunctive relief that Defendant immediately and fully comply with Plaintiffs' request under the FOIA.

#### Jurisdiction and Venue

2. This Court has both subject matter jurisdiction over this action and personal jurisdiction over the parties pursuant to 5 U.S.C. §552(a)(4)(B) and 28 U.S.C.§1331. Venue lies in this district pursuant to 5 U.S.C. §552(a)(4)(B).

#### **Parties**

3. Plaintiff George M. Clarke III is an attorney with Baker & McKenzie LLP, admitted to practice in the District of Columbia, Bar No. 480073, with offices at 815 Connecticut Avenue, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20006-4078.

4. Defendant Internal Revenue Service ("Defendant," or the "IRS") is an agency of the federal government within the meaning of 5 U.S.C. §552(f), with its headquarters in Washington, D.C., and is subject to the requirements of the FOIA. The IRS is the federal agency with possession and control of the requested records and is responsible for fulfilling Plaintiff's FOIA request.

#### Statutory Framework

- 5. The FOIA requires agencies of the federal government to release requested records to the public unless one or more specific statutory exemptions apply.
- 6. An agency has 20 working days after receipt of a request in which to determine whether to comply with the request, and then must immediately notify the requester of its determination and reasons therefor, and of the right of the requester to appeal an adverse determination to the agency's head. 5 U.S.C. §552(a)(6)(A)(i).
- 7. In "unusual circumstances" the time limits "may be extended by written notice" which sets forth the date a determination is expected to be sent and which generally does not provide for an extension of more than 10 working days. 5 U.S.C. §552(a)(6)(B)(i).
- 8. The agency must notify the requester if the request cannot be processed within such time, and must provide the requester the opportunity to limit the scope of the request so it can be processed within such time or the opportunity "to arrange with the agency an alternate time frame for processing the request or a modified request." 5 U.S.C. §552(a)(6)(B)(ii). A refusal to modify the request or arrange an alternate time frame is a consideration in determining whether "exceptional circumstances" exist. <u>Id</u>.
- 9. If the agency fails to comply with the time limit provisions, the requester "shall be deemed to have exhausted his administrative remedies." 5 U.S.C. §552(a)(6)(C)(i). If the

government can show "exceptional circumstances" and the exercise of "due diligence," a court may give the agency additional time to respond. Id.

10. This Court has jurisdiction upon receipt of a complaint "to enjoin the agency from withholding agency records and to order the production of any agency records improperly withheld from the complainant." 5 U.S.C. §552(a)(4)(B).

#### **The FOIA Request**

- Sapero, FOIA Request Officer for the IRS in Washington, D.C. (the "FOIA Request," Exhibit A). In the FOIA Request, Plaintiff specifically requested records relating to a draft proposal prepared by the IRS dated March 19, 1982, including the draft proposal itself (the "Proposal"). The Proposal was a legislative proposal which eventually became sections 6221 through 6231 of the Internal Revenue Code. A report prepared by the Committee on Partners and Partnerships of the New York State Bar Association regarding proposed partnership audit legislation, dated April 28, 1982 (the "Report," Exhibit B), references the Proposal.
- 12. Based on the Report, the Proposal would evidently provide support for the position that Code section 6229 is a partnership statute of limitations separate and apart from the general statute of limitations of Code section 6501. The IRS takes the contrary view that Code section 6229 is merely a minimum period which may extend the general statute of limitations of Code section 6501. See, e.g., AD Global Fund, LLC v. U.S., 2006 U.S. App. LEXIS 1648 (Fed. Cir. 2006).
- 13. Janice P. Rudolph, Tax Law Specialist with the IRS, replied on December 2, 2005 (Exhibit C). In her letter, she acknowledged receipt of the FOIA Request and stated that additional time was needed to locate and consider releasing the requested IRS records, and that

the IRS would try to respond within 90 business days. Additional time was requested, but access to the requested items was not denied. Plaintiff agreed to the extension of time.

- 14. There was no further written correspondence from Ms. Rudolph, Ms. Sapero, or any other IRS FOIA personnel within the 90 days.
- 15. After the 90-day period, Plaintiff called the IRS several times for an update on the status of the FOIA Request since nothing had yet been received. Plaintiff still received no response to the FOIA Request.
- 16. On October 5, 2006, Ms. Rudolph, at Ms. Maclane's direction, left a phone message for Plaintiff. She stated that on April 24, 2006, she had contacted the Chief Counsel to inform them of the urgency of the request. However, her office had still not received any information or an update on the status of the FOIA Request and was still waiting. (A transcript of that phone message is provided as <a href="Exhibit D">Exhibit D</a>.) She suggested that the recent flooding of the IRS headquarters building in Washington may have delayed matters, but stated "I can't really give you explanation except for the fact we are waiting." (Id.)
- 17. With the exception of the aforementioned letter and phone call, Plaintiff has received no other communication regarding the FOIA request. All Plaintiff has been able to learn is that Chief Counsel has delayed a FOIA Request response which may contain important information contrary to the IRS' interpretation of Code section 6229.
- 18. Because the IRS has failed to comply with the FOIA time limit provisions, Plaintiff has now exhausted their administrative remedies in accordance with 5 U.S.C. §552(a)(6)(C)(i).

#### Claims For Relief

19. Plaintiff reasserts and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs.

- 20. Plaintiff has properly requested records within the IRS' control in accordance with the FOIA.
  - 21. Plaintiff is entitled under the FOIA to access the requested records.
- 22. Defendant has wrongfully withheld the requested records in violation of the FOIA.
- 23. Plaintiff has exhausted his administrative remedies with regard to the wrongfully withheld records.
  - 24. Plaintiff is therefore entitled to injunctive relief.

#### **Prayer For Relief**

- 25. WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests that this Court:
- a. Enjoin the IRS from withholding and order the IRS to produce for Plaintiff and for the public the documents Plaintiff requested in the FOIA Request, in accordance with 5 U.S.C. §552(a)(4)(B).
- b. Award Plaintiff reasonable attorney fees and other litigation expenses incurred in prosecuting this action, in accordance with 5 U.S.C. §552(a)(4)(E).
- c. Grant such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper.

  Dated: November 2, 2006

Respectfully submitted,

George M. Clarke III

(Bar No. 480073)

Baker & McKenzie LLP

815 Connecticut Avenue, N.W.

Washington, D.C. 20006-4078

Phone: (202) 452-7000

Fax: (202) 452-7074

Pro Se

## UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

GEORGE M. CLARKE, III Baker & McKenzie LLP 815 Connecticut Avenue, N.W. Washington, D.C. 20006-4078 (202) 452-7000,	) ) ) )
Plaintiff,	)
v.	) Civil Action No.
INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE 1111 Constitution Avenue, NW Washington, DC 20224,	) ) )
Defendant.	) ) )

#### **DECLARATION OF GEORGE M. CLARKE III**

- I, George M. Clarke III, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. Section 1746, declare as follows:
- 1. On October 28, 2005, I wrote a letter to Maureen Sapero, FOIA Request Officer for the Internal Revenue Service ("IRS") in Washington, D.C. (the "FOIA Request," attached as Exhibit A to Plaintiff's Complaint for Injunctive Relief (the "Complaint")).
- 2. In the FOIA Request, I requested any administrative files of the IRS and the Department of Treasury containing any and all documents regarding an IRS draft proposal prepared March 19, 1982, including the proposal itself (the "Proposal"). The Proposal, a legislative proposal which eventually became sections 6221 through 6231 of the Internal Revenue Code, was described in detail in the FOIA Request (attached as Exhibit B to the Complaint).

- 3. Janice P. Rudolph, Tax Law Specialist with the IRS, replied by letter on December 2, 2005 (attached as Exhibit C to the Complaint). She acknowledged receipt of the FOIA Request, stated that additional time was needed to locate and consider releasing the requested IRS records, and indicated the IRS would try to respond within 90 business days. I agreed to the extension of time.
- 4. I received no further written correspondence from Ms. Rudolph, Ms. Sapero, or any other IRS FOIA personnel within the 90 days.
- 5. After the 90-day period, I called the IRS several times for an update on the status of the FOIA Request since nothing had yet been received. I still received no substantive response to the FOIA Request.
- 6. On October 5, 2006, Ms. Rudolph, at Ms. Maclane's direction, left me a phone message. She stated that on April 24, 2006, she had contacted the Chief Counsel to inform them of the urgency of the request. However, her office still had not received any information or an update on the status of the FOIA Request and was still waiting. She suggested that the recent flooding of the IRS headquarters building in Washington may have delayed matters, but stated "I can't really give you explanation except for the fact we are waiting." (A true and correct transcript of the phone message is provided as Exhibit D to the Complaint.)
- 7. With the exception of the aforementioned letter and phone call, I have received no other communication regarding the FOIA Request. All I have been able to learn is that Chief Counsel has delayed a FOIA Request response which may contain important information regarding the interpretation of Code section 6229.

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. Executed in Washington, D.C., on November 26, 2006.

GEORGE M. CLARKE III

(Bar No. 480073)

Baker & McKenzie LLP

#### BAKER & MCKENZIE

Baker & McKenzle LLP 815 Connecticut Avenue, NW Washington, DC 20006-4078, USA

Tel: +1 202 452 7000 Fax: +1 202 452 7074 www.bakernet.com

Asia
Pacific
Bengkok
Beijing
Hanol
Ho Chi Minh City
Hong Kong
Jakarta
Kuala Lumpur
Manilla
Mejbourne
Shanghai
Singapore

October 28, 2005

Ms. Maureen Sapero FOIA Request Headquarters Disclosure Office 1111 Constitution Avenue, N.W. Room 1571 Washington, DC 20224 George M. Clarke +1 202 452 7068 george.m.clarke@bakernet.com

Via Federal Express

Europe & Middle East

Talpel Tokyo

Almaty Amsterdam Antwerp Bahrain Barcelona Berlin Bologna Brussels Budapest Cairo Frankfurt / Main Geneva Kviv London Madrid Milan Moscow Paris Prague Riyadh Rome St. Petersburg Stockholm

Dear Ms. Sapero:

This is a request for records related to a draft proposal prepared by the Internal Revenue Service, dated March 19, 1982 pursuant to the Freedom of Information Act, 5 U.S.C. §552, as amended ("FOIA"). The draft proposed provisions which eventually became §§6221-6231 to the Internal Revenue Code.

In accordance with FOIA and the applicable regulations, I am requesting the documents listed in this FOIA request on behalf of my capacity as researcher.

I am an "other requester" under Treas. Reg. §601.702(f)(ii)(E). In accordance with Treas. Reg. §601.702(c)(4)(G), I do not wish to inspect the records, but desire copies to be made and furnished without inspecting them. In accordance with Treas. Reg. §601.702(c)(4)(H), I agree to pay the applicable charges incurred to search for and duplicate the requested documents. You may incur up to \$100 in charges in connection with this request without further authorization. In the event that the total charges are estimated to exceed that amount, please seek further authorization.

If it is determined that any requested document or record, or any portion thereof, will not be disclosed, please provide the non-exempt documents and records and the non-exempt portions of the remaining documents and records. In the event an exemption is claimed, please provide all segregable, non-exempt portions of any withheld document or record pursuant to 5 U.S.C. §552(b). If any material is to be redacted, please "black out" rather than "white out" or "cut out" any portions for which an exemption is claimed.

Pursuant to 5 U.S.C. §§552(a)(6)(A)(i) and 552(b), if this request is denied either in part or in whole, please provide an index that specifies the exemption(s) claimed for each portion of each document withheld. Please provide a detailed description of each document or record withheld, including the author(s) and any recipients, the date of its creation, its subject matter, and its current physical location. In addition, please provide the reason that each document or record falls within the exemption claimed for it. Please also specify the number of pages in each document or record and the total number of pages that are responsive to this request.

#### North & South America

Vienna

Warsay

Zurich

Bogota Brasilia **Buenos Aires** Calgary Caracas Chicago Guadalajara Houston Juarez Mexico City Miami Monterrey Palo Alto Porto Alegre Rio de Janeiro San Diego San Francisco Santiago Sao Paulo Tijuana Toronto Valencia

Washington, DC

#### BAKER & MCKENZIE

#### Specific request:

Any administrative files of the Internal Revenue Service and the Department 1. of the Treasury containing any and all documents regarding the draft proposal prepared by the Internal Revenue Service, dated March 19, 1982, including the draft proposal itself. The draft was a legislative proposal that eventually became §§6221-6231 of the Internal Revenue Code. This proposal was circulated during Roscoe L. Egger, Jr.'s tenure as Commissioner of the IRS. Kenneth W. Gideon, the Chief Counsel of the IRS at the time was involved in preparing and commenting on the draft, as was the Secretary of the Treasury, the Honorable John E. Chapoton and other Treasury Department officials including David G. Glickman and William S. McKee. For purposes of this request, the term "administrative file" refers to all documents, including drafts and handwritten notes in the IRS' possession without regard to whether such documents are organized in discrete files by the Internal Revenue Service, Department of the Treasury, and subparts or units of either entity.

As set forth in 5 U.S.C. §552(a)(6)(A)(i), 31 C.F.R. §1.5(h), and Treas. Reg. §601.702(c)(9)(ii), we would appreciate a response to this request within 20 working days of its receipt. Please send all documents to me as follows:

George M. Clarke III Baker & McKenzie LLP 815 Connecticut Avenue, NW Washington, DC 20006-4078

You may direct any question with regard to this request to me. My telephone number is (202) 452-7068 if you have any questions or require further information.

Thank you in advance for your consideration in this matter.

Best regards,

George M. Clarke

GMC/cjh

Return to TLC files when

## Vinished - Room 4023

# Vew York State Bar Association

#### MEMBERS AT LARGE OF EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Donald C. Alexander Harbort L Comp John P. Carrell, Jr.

M Cerr Ferguson, Jr. Jemes B Lewis Sherwin Kamin Kevin J. O'Brian Sherwin Kamin Jaroma Kurtz

Paul Pineo Sidney I Roberts Laraine S Rothenberg

Richard Stone Therese B Stuchiner Michael H Testa

April 28, 1982

nicaen Pers 1000

WAR ER

TZ :

inchrencen

MI 10004

ecci

AND RESTRICTION OF THE PARTY OF indiation 10 161, Now York Chy 10004

trical-esseri rug, Stew Yest Cay 10017 d Education

Towns, Rechester 14804

enhanan Plaza, Here York City 10006

. Now York City 10005 rii Paesities fein Fizza, Kew York Cny 10112 s brosessmean Credit eberg us. Now York City 10164 120

1 ក្រុម្បី១... ប្រហិទ**ស 14203** n Mara York City 10004 attenente. nharman Plaza, New York City 10006

Reciperator 1601d niconomic design

T Place, Suitate 14203 33033 num. How York Eary 10171 tions and Possold Fenera Now York City 1000% to of U.S. Taxperore

d Morres Pinine 611 07950

berg we, New York City 10022 os and Trucks ISONA us. New York City 10023 al Property New York City 10004 aver First Yower, Rochester 14603 Tax Martine on Assense: Athery 12210

rinerchies Stew York City 10004

rdoon r. Naw York Cny 10005

i Plaza, New Yest City 10004 avey set. Rechaster 14614 ದಿರಬಹಿಸಲಾ onner nue, New York Cay 10163 at NW, Weshington, DC 20008

s Physicophan 1 Avanue, Hew York City 10174

0.220 siby Towar, Rechester 14004

"srk Pleas, How York City 10006 Dermon y, How York City 10005 water d Street, Meter York City 10022

The Honorable Roscoe L. Egger, Jr. Commissioner of Internal Revenue llll Constitution Avenue, N.W. Washington, D.C. 20224

Dear Commissioner Egger:

I enclose a report by our Committee on Partners and Partnerships on proposed partnership audit legislation.

The principal draftsman of the report was Peter L. Faber. Simon Jacobson, Martin B. Cowan, Edwin H. Baker and Laurence Goldfein also participated in its preparation. It reflects comments from Richard G. Cohen and the undersigned.

The report was approved at a meeting of the Executive Committee of the Tax Section.

Sincerely,

Ruth G. Schapiro Chairman

RGS: jb Enclosure

#### Department of the Treasury CC:

The Honorable John E. Chapoton David G. Glickman, Esq. William S. McKee, Esq.

#### Internal Revenue Service

Kenneth W. Gideon, Esq.

## NEW YORK STATE BAR ASSOCIATION TAX SECTION COMMITTEE ON PARTNERS AND PARTNERSHIPS

Report on Proposed Partnership Audit Legislation1/

#### Introduction

Under the federal tax system, a partnership is not liable for income tax with respect to its income. It files an information return on Form 1065 reporting its income, deductions, and credits, and the portion of each allocated to each partner. The partners are then responsible for reporting their shares of partnership items on their individual income tax returns. The tax, if any, attributable to these items is paid by each partner and is affected by his individual circumstances. Thus, the income of a profitable partnership can escape tax altogether if the partners each have losses from other sources that are offset against it on their individual income tax returns. Conversely, losses generated by a partnership can reduce the tax payable by partners with respect to income from other sources.

Although a partnership does not itself pay federal income taxes, it may play a significant role in the determination of the partners' tax liabilities. In general, elections such as those pertaining to depreciation and other accounting methods are made

The principal draftsman of this report was Peter L. Faber. Simon Jacobson, Martin B. Cowan, Edwin H. Baker, and Laurence Goldfein also helped in the report's preparation. Useful comments were received from Richard G. Cohen and Ruth G. Schapiro.

by the partnership, not by each partner. By becoming a partner, an individual gives up the right to make certain determinations respecting the reporting of his share of partnership income.

Nevertheless, the partners are not bound by partnership decisions in several significant respects.

Normally, a partnership files a partnership income tax return and sends a form K-l to each partner showing that partner's share of the partnership's income, deductions, and credits. Partners are not, however, required to follow the K-l forms when preparing their own income tax returns. If a partner has a reasonable basis for disagreeing with the allocation of a particular item among partners or with the reporting of it on the partnership income tax return, he is free to take his own position. For example, a partner who feels that the partnership income tax return improperly capitalized an item that should have been deducted as an expense may prepare his own return as if the item had been deducted on the partnership return and not capitalized.

The Service has ordinarily audited partnerships at the partnership level, although partnership audits have occasionally been precipitated by an examination of a partner's return. The agent reviews the partnership's income tax return and discusses proposed adjustments with a partner having authority to act for the partnership under the partnership agreement or with the

partnership's professional advisors. The agent and the partnership representative may agree on proposed adjustments or they may disagree. In either case, the partners of the partnership are not bound by their conclusion.

When the audit at the partnership level is completed, the agent must contact each partner so that the adjustments agreed to at the partnership level can be reflected on each partner's return and any additional taxes collected. This requires an examination of each partner's return since the tax impact of the partnership adjustments will depend on the partners' individual circumstances. If partners live in different parts of the country, they will be contacted by agents in their districts, not by the agent who audited the partnership.

Each partner is free to agree or disagree with the adjustments agreed to by the managing partner with the agent who
audited the partnership. If partners disagree with those
adjustments, each partner is made the subject of a separate
administrative proceeding. Partners may consolidate cases into a
single administrative proceeding, but they are not required to do
so and they are often reluctant to do so because of the disclosure of other information about their tax and financial situations that might result.

Because of the two-level audit process, it often becomes necessary for the Internal Revenue Service to require partners to

agree to extend the statute of limitations on assessing deficiencies. Here again, this must be done on an individual basis, and the need to insure that each partner extends the statute places a formidable administrative burden on the Service.

Each partner is entitled to an individual judicial proceeding as well as an administrative one. If he cannot resolve matters with the Service at the agent or Appeals Division level, he receives a 90-day letter applicable to his individual return. He then has all the options that are normally available to a taxpayer facing litigation. He can file a petition with the Tax Court or can pay the proposed deficiencies and, after his refund claim is denied or ignored, he can litigate in the Court of Claims or a Federal District Court. Thus, the audit of a single partnership may result in many separate administrative and judicial proceedings, all independent of the others. At one level, this can result in duplication of effort by the Internal Revenue Service and considerable expense to the government and taxpayers. At another level, it can have the unfair result of partners being treated differently with respect to the same partnership item.

#### Previous Responses to the Partnership Audit Problem

The substantive law of Subchapter K and its administration often seem to follow divergent paths. While many of the substantive provisions are based on determinations at the partnership

level, the heart of the administrative process, where taxes are actually assessed, takes place at the partner level. Proposals to make the partnership audit process more effective generally have attempted to shift the administrative focus to the partnership entity and away from the individual partners.

In 1978, the Treasury Department proposed that partnership audits be conducted at the partnership level. Determinations of adjustments would have been made on behalf of the partnership by those persons authorized by the partnership agreement to represent it. A single administrative conference or judicial proceeding would have been required and each partner would have been bound by determinations made by the partnership. The proposal did not become law.

In 1981, the American Law Institute approved a partnership audit proposal that also adopted the entity approach but with significant exceptions. 2/

The ALI recognized that the interests of different groups of partners could differ. It pointed out that the pure entity approach with no provisions for dissenters' rights could permit a managing partner to agree to an Internal Revenue Service position that might reduce his own tax liability but might increase the liability of the other partners. Although fiduciary principles

<sup>2/</sup> American Law Institute Federal Income Tax Project, Tentative Draft No.7 (March 20, 1981).

of partnership law might limit the extent to which this could be done if bad faith or negligence were shown, the remedies for objecting partners under applicable state law could be cumbersome. The Institute therefore proposed a modified entity approach.

Individual partners would be allowed to report distributive shares of partnership items differently from the way in which they were reported on the partnership income tax return, but they would be required to disclose the difference on their returns.

In the event of an audit, all partners would have a right to meet with the examining agent. Moreover, partners who in the aggregate had specified interests in an item at issue would be allowed to have an Appeals conference on that issue and to litigate it on behalf of the partnership, even if the managing partners disagreed with this course of action. These dissenters' rights could be waived in the partnership agreement. If proceedings were brought in different judicial forums, consolidation would be required in the forum in which joinders had been filed by partners with the greatest interest in the partnership's profits.

### Internal Revenue Service Legislative Proposal3/

The Service's Proposal would add §§6221-6231 to the Internal Revenue Code. Section 6221 contains the general statement that, except as provided in Subchapter C of Chapter 63, the tax treatment of any "partnership item" must be determined at the partnership level. The remaining provisions specify the circumstances in which this general principle will be followed or ignored.

The Proposal contemplates that the audit of a partnership will be conducted at the partnership level. The partner having the responsibility for conducting tax proceedings for the partnership, referred to as the "tax matters partner," is required to notify the other partners of proceedings in the audit as is, under certain circumstances, the Internal Revenue Service. Failures to provide notification can generally be cured within certain time limits.

Under §6222(a), a partner is required to treat a partnership item consistently with the item's treatment on the partnership return, but inconsistent treatment is permitted under §6222(b) if the partner notifies the Secretary of the Treasury of the inconsistency.

<sup>3/</sup> The following discussion is based on the draft proposal prepared by the Internal Revenue Service dated March 19, 1982 ("Proposal").

Under §6223(a), the Service is required to notify each partner of the beginning of an administrative proceeding at the partnership level with respect to a partnership item and of a final partnership administrative adjustment resulting from any such proceeding. If a partnership has more than 100 partners, \$6223(b) provides that partners with less than a 1% interest in the partnership's profits need not be so notified, although a group of partners in the aggregate having a 5% or more interest in partnership profits may request notification as a group and designate a partner to receive such notice. The Service may rely on information shown on the partnership return in determining names, addresses, and profits interests of partners required to receive notice.

Under proposed §6224, each partner may participate in an administrative proceeding relating to the determination of partnership items at the partnership level. This right may be waived. Procedures are established for settlement agreements to be signed by a partner wishing an opportunity to do so.

Section 6225 provides that taxes may not be assessed as a result of an adjustment of a partnership item before the close of the 150th day after the day on which a notice of final partnership administrative adjustment was mailed to the tax matters partner or, if a judicial proceeding is begun within that time, until the court decision in that proceeding becomes final.

The tax matters partner has 90 days after the day on which the notice of final partnership administrative adjustment is mailed to him in which to petition for a readjustment with the Tax Court, the Federal District Court for the district in which the partnership's principal place of business is located, or the Court of Claims. Proposed §6226(a). If the tax matters partner does not file a petition within this time, any partner entitled to notice (including any 5% group) may file a petition within 60 days after the close of the 90-day period. If more than one action is brought by other partners, the first such action brought in the Tax Court has priority and all other actions must be consolidated with it. If no action is brought in the Tax Court, the first action brought in any other court has priority. The tax matters partner may intervene in any such proceeding. Proposed §6226(b). If any judicial proceeding is brought by the tax matters partner or any other partner, every person who is a partner during the taxable year at issue is treated as a party to the action if he has an interest in the outcome. Proposed §§6226(c) and (d). Under §6226(e) a proceeding may not be started in a Federal District Court or the Court of Claims unless the partner bringing the proceeding pays the increase in the partner's tax liability which would result from the changes in the notice of final partnership administrative adjustment.

Unlike the American Law Institute's approach, the Proposal would permit any partner entitled to notice of an administrative proceeding or final adjustment to start an action in court, no matter how small his interest (subject to a special rule for partners with less than a 1% interest in partnerships with more than 100 partners), even if the tax matters partner had agreed to the contested adjustments. In this respect, the Proposal has more extensive dissenters' rights than the American Law Institute's proposal.

. A more generous approach to dissenters' rights is also reflected in the procedures for claiming refunds. Under §6227(a), any partner may request an administrative adjustment of a partnership item within three years after the due date of the partnership return for the taxable year at issue and before a notice of final partnership administrative adjustment is mailed to the tax matters partner. The tax matters partner may also file a request for an administrative adjustment. If he does, the Service may treat the changes shown on the request as "corrections of mathematical or clerical errors" to which it can respond immediately with respect to all partners. The Service may grant the request in full and make adjustments with respect to all partners, it may deny the request and start a partnership administrative proceeding, or it may ignore the request. Any such request must show the effect of the adjustment on the distributive shares of all partners.

If a partner other than the tax matters partner requests an administrative adjustment, the Service may process the request with respect to that partner only, may ignore it, or may start an administrative proceeding at the partnership level.

Under §6228(a), the tax matters partner may file a petition with the Tax Court, the Federal District Court of the United States for the district in which the partnership's principal place of business is located, or the Court of Claims if an administrative adjustment request filed by the tax matters partner is not allowed by the Service. This must be done after six months from the date the request is filed and before two years after such date. If the Service mails the partnership a notice of the start of an administrative proceeding with respect to an administrative adjustment request, a court petition cannot be filed until the audit process has run its normal course. In any such judicial proceeding, any person who was a partner during the partnership taxable year involved is treated as a party to the action and must be allowed to participate.

If a partner other than the tax matters partner files an administrative adjustment request which is disallowed or ignored, the partner may start a judicial proceeding. In such case, \$6228(b) provides that he will be the only party to the proceeding and that the items in question will be treated as "nonpartnership items." A partner may not file a court petition under

this provision, however, if the Service has previously mailed to the tax matters partner a notice of the beginning of a partnership proceeding with respect to that year.

Section 6229(a) provides that taxes proposed with respect to a person attributable to a partnership item must be assessed before the later of three years after the later of the date on which the partnership return was filed or the due date for that return or, if the partner's name and address does not appear on the partnership return, one year after the date on which the Secretary receives this information. The statute of limitations can be extended by agreement. Section 6229(c) provides for an unlimited period for assessment of deficiencies with respect to any partner "signing or participating in the preparation of" a fraudulent return. If a return has been fraudulently prepared, the normal three-year statute for partners not participating in the fraud is extended to six years. The six-year statute also applies if the partnership omits from gross income an amount exceeding 25% of the gross income reported on the return. If no partnership return is filed, there is no limit on the time in which deficiencies can be assessed.

Section 6230(a) provides that normal deficiency procedures do not apply to computational adjustments. An exception is made, however, if, within 60 days after a notice of the correction of error is mailed to a partner, the partner requests the Service

not to make the correction. Similarly, a partner may file a claim for refund on the grounds that the Service incorrectly computed a computational adjustment and may start a judicial proceeding if the claim is not allowed, provided that substantive issues are not involved.

Section 6231 contains definitions and special rules.

The term "partnership" is defined as any partnership required to file a return under §6031(a). This incorporates the definition of "partnership" in §761(a).

"Partner" is defined as a partner in a partnership or any other person whose income tax liability is determined in whole or in part by taking into account partnership items.

"Partnership item" means an item that Treasury Department regulations provide is "more appropriately determined at the partnership level than at the partner level."

"Tax matters partner" is defined as the general partner so designated pursuant to procedures to be set forth in the regulations, or, if no person is so designated, the general partner having the largest profits interest in the partnership at the close of the taxable year involved in the proceeding.

Under §6231(b), items may cease to be treated as partnership items under certain circumstances. This occurs with respect to an item if a partner files a statement of inconsistent treatment with the partnership tax return under §6222(b) and the Service

mails to the partner a notice of deficiency with respect to the item or the partner asserts an offset attributable to the item in a judicial proceeding. Non-partnership item treatment also results if the Service disallows a claim with respect to the item, the partner files suit after the Service fails to allow an administrative adjustment request with respect to the item, the Service signs a settlement agreement with a partner with respect to the item, or in certain other circumstances.

#### General Comments on the Service's Proposal

The Service's general approach is to focus activity at the partnership level, but dissenting partners have substantial rights to determine their own destinies if they disagree with procedural decisions made by the partnership.

The Service's concern for the rights of individual partners is certainly commendable. Any solution to the partnership audit problem must involve a balancing of administrative efficiency and the protection of individual interests. The Committee believes that the Proposal may have gone too far in permitting dissenters' rights. If dissenters are given the right to report their partnership participation on their individual returns in a manner inconsistent with their K-1 forms, to resolve or not resolve controverted issues at various administrative levels within the Service, to decide whether to file a claim for refund, or to choose the forum in which partnership issues are to be litigated,

then, no matter what limitations are placed on these rights, many of the problems of the present system will continue, although they may be less severe.

The proposal is complex, and much of the complexity results from the accomodation of dissenting partners. It is not at all clear that historical precedent and attitudes created when typical partnerships were simple joint ventures undertaken without a significant tax orientation should apply to the partnerships of the 1980's. Existing procedures are based on the premise that a partnership is an aggregate of individuals with each partner having important and significant rights. We believe that this premise should be reexamined in the context of income tax administration. The Committee feels that the search for a solution to the administrative problem confronting the Service should not be bound by legal principles developed at other times and in other contexts.

The chief impetus for dissenters' rights seems to proceed from a concern that the partner responsible for preparing the partnership income tax return may favor his own personal interests at the expense of those of the remaining partners, in violation of his fiduciary duty to act for the benefit of the partnership as a whole. This is a valid concern. As indicated above, remedies available to the remaining partners under state law may be expensive and time consuming to enforce and might well

prove to be inadequate. The question at issue is whether the creation of procedural rights in dissenting partners to conduct their own administrative and judicial proceedings is an appropriate remedy. We believe that in general it is not.

A person by entering into a partnership agrees to forego certain freedom of action. He submits his right to manage his investment to the judgment of those persons controlling the partnership. As indicated in the introduction to this report, these rights include rights to make certain tax elections and other decisions pertaining to the tax liabilities resulting from partnership operations. This is particularly true of limited partners who, under applicable law, must surrender their right to participate in partnership management in order to preserve the limited liability that in many cases is for them a prerequisite to becoming a partner.

We believe that requiring a partner to be bound by partnership decisions respecting the conduct of income tax audits is not
an unfair restriction. Minority partners can be defended against
partnership management self-dealing by dissenters' rights in
limited areas such as those pertaining to allocations among
partners. Further protection can be afforded by allowing the
holders of a majority interest in partnership profits or in a
partnership item to have the power to override a decision made by
partnership management. One does not have to give each partner

the right to contest the Service's capitalization of an expense deducted on the partnership income tax return in order to protect these interests.

The Committee believes that the need for a totally enforceable partnership audit system is so great that some limitation of individual rights is justified. We would prefer less generous dissenters' rights than those contained in the Service's Proposal.

#### Specific Comments on the Service's Proposal

The following comments assume that the Service's basic premise is followed and are addressed to specific aspects of the Proposal.

## Section 6222 Consistency of Partner's Return with Partnership Return.

The Committee agrees with the general thrust of §6222 that partners should normally be required to treat partnership items in a manner consistent with their treatment on the partnership return and that any departure from consistency should be disclosed on the partner's return. We would suggest that consideration be given to requiring the partner to state on the return his reasons for treating the item differently from its treatment on the partnership return.

It is appropriate to provide that a partner who relies on a K-1 form received by him from the partnership should be protected from penalties for violating \$6222(a) if the K-1 form later proves to be inconsistent with the partnership return. The addition of this provision represents a significant improvement of the Service's January 28, 1982 draft.

#### Section 6223. Notice to Partners of Proceedings

Section 6223(a) requires the Secretary to notify each partner of the beginning of an administrative proceeding at the partnership level with respect to a partnership item and of the final partnership administrative adjustment resulting in any such proceeding. "Administrative proceeding" is not defined, nor is the word "beginning". It might be appropriate to define "administrative proceeding" in §6231 and to provide that an administrative proceeding begins when notice of audit is mailed by the Service to the partnership.

The treatment of partnerships which are partners in other partnerships is unclear. It would seem appropriate for the partners of second-tier partnerships not to be counted in applying the 100 partner test of \$6223(b)(1). This might be covered in the Committee reports. The January 28, 1982 draft did not indicate the extent of the right of partners of second-tier partnerships to receive notices. The March 19 draft requires a second-tier partnership to notify its partners of notices

received from the Service. Placing this responsibility on the partnership rather than on the Service is the correct approach to the problem.

Section 6223(b) provides that a partner in a partnership with more than 100 partners who has a less than one percent interest in the profits of the partnership need not receive notice from the Secretary unless he and a group of partners having in the aggregate a five percent or more interest in profits request notice and designate one of their members to receive notices. It is not clear when a group of partners must make this designation. More importantly, it is not clear how an interest in "profits" is to be determined. While §6223(c) allows the Secretary to use the profits interests shown on the partnership return, the determination of profits interests for purposes of preparing a partnership return has always been a source of aggravation for tax return preparers. Partnership profits can consist of many elements, including capital gains, guaranteed payments, and contingent interests. Profits from some operations might be shared differently from profits from others. Although partnerships are required to express the interest of each partner in profits on the partnership income tax return in percentage terms, this is often a wild guess which fortunately does not have any legal significance.

The reference to "partnership return" in §6223(c)(1) presumbly means the return for the taxable year under examination, not the most recent year, but the language is ambiguous. In order to eliminate the uncertainty, the words "for the partnership taxable year under examination" should be added after the word "return." The Committee reports should make clear that the use of additional information authorized by §6223(c)(2) does not permit the Service to fail to mail notice to a person who was a partner during the taxable year under examination but who was no longer a partner when the audit took place.

Section 6223(f) provides that the Secretary may not mail a second notice of final partnership administrative adjustment for a partnership taxable year absent a showing of fraud, malfeasance, or misrepresentation of a material fact. The Secretary should have the burden of proving that such a condition exists.

section 6223(g) requires the tax matters partner to keep each partner informed of administrative and judicial proceedings for the adjustment at the partnership level of partnership items. It would be appropriate to provide a sanction against the tax matters partner (e.g. a penalty) if he fails to carry out this responsibility. It would also be appropriate to provide some protection for the partners if the tax matters partner fails to notify them of administrative and judicial proceedings.

Section 6224 Participation in Administrative Proceedings

Section 6224 provides that each partner may participate in an administrative proceeding relating to the determination of partnership items at the partnership level. The meaning of "participate" should be clarified in the Committee reports and, perhaps, in the statute. A partner should not, for example, have the right to require the Internal Revenue Service to bring all documents to his home town for a meeting if he lives 3,000 miles away from the partnership office. Participation presumably includes the right to be represented by professional advisors, to be invited to meetings with the Internal Revenue Service, and to be notified a reasonable time before any such meeting. It should not, in our view, include a right to have meetings rescheduled if they are inconvenient for the particular partner. Participation should include a right to submit legal briefs or memoranda.

The waiver provisions of §6224(b) are cause for concern. It seems likely that the Service will develop printed forms under this provision on which partners would effectively waive all of their rights to notice and participation. If revenue agents present these forms to partners in a certain way, it is likely that partners will routinely waive their rights without knowing what they are doing. If the dissenters' rights provisions are to work effectively, it might be appropriate to limit the waiver provisions to the right to participate in administrative and

judicial proceedings; partners should not be permitted to waive their rights to notices.

A waiver may be filed "at any time." In order to protect partners against ill-considered waivers, it might be appropriate to provide that a waiver with respect to participation in an administrative or judicial proceeding can be filed only after the proceeding begins. It might also be appropriate to allow partners to revoke their waivers. A partner might conclude after the commencement of a proceeding that he disagrees with the manner in which it is being handled by the tax matters partner. It would not seem burdensome to allow the partner to revoke his waiver of his right to participate in the proceeding at that point and to intervene.

# Section 6225. Assessments After Partnership Level Proceedings are Completed

No comment.

# Section 6226. Judicial Review of Final Partnership Administrative Adjustments

The tax matters partner may file a petition for a readjustment of partnership items within 90 days after a notice of final partnership administrative adjustment is mailed to him. Although the tax matters partner is required by §6223(g) to keep partners informed of proceedings in general, he should specifically be required to notify other partners of the filing of a petition under §6226(a). Otherwise, they will not know whether they have a right to file a petition under §6226(b). Similarly, a partner filing a petition under §6226(b) should be required to notify the tax matters partner who should in turn be required to notify the other partners. Without such notice, the tax matters partner's right to intervene under §6226(b)(5) would be worthless.

Section 6226(c) provides that every person who was a partner during the taxable year at issue in a judicial proceeding shall be a party to the action and shall be allowed to "participate" in the action. As in the case of administrative proceedings, the meaning of "participate" should be clarified in the statute or the Committee reports. Does it include the right to have separate counsel? to agree or not to agree to a settlement? to raise new issues in the proceeding? to call witnesses? to have the proceeding adjourned? to file briefs?

#### Section 6227. Administrative Adjustment Requests

The tax matters partner should be specifically required to notify the other partners of the filing of an administrative adjustment request and of the Service's disposition of it. Even if the Service agrees to a request filed by the tax matters partner, other partners may disagree with the action and should have a right to object. Similarly, if a partner other than the tax matters partner files an administrative adjustment request, he should be required to notify the tax matters partner who should in turn be required to notify the other partners.

# Section 6228. Judicial Review of Administrative Adjustment Requests

The reference to "the date of such request" in Section 6228(a)(2)(A)(ii) is unclear. The word "filing" should be inserted after the word "of."

The reference to "partner" in §6228(a)(2)(C) is unclear. Presumably, the reference is to the tax matters partner and the words "tax matters" should be inserted before the word "partner." Section 6228(a)(4) provides that other partners may "participate" in an action brought by the tax matters partner with respect to an administrative adjustment request. Here, too, the meaning of the word "participate" should be clarified.

Section 6228(b)(2) (B) provides that a partner may not file a petition with respect to an administrative adjustment request after the Secretary has mailed a notice of the beginning of a partnership proceeding for the same taxable year to the partnership. If the partnership level proceeding involves items other than that which the individual partner is contesting, he should have the right to bring these items up in the partnership proceeding. This relates to the meaning of the word "participate" which has been discussed above.

#### Section 6229 Statute of Limitations

Section 6229(c)(1) provides that there will be no statute of limitations on the assessment of a deficiency with respect to a

partner signing or participating in the preparation of a fraudulent return.

The provision for fraudulent returns seems unduly harsh. A partner who signed the return or participated in its preparation would not be protected by the statute of limitations even if he was unaware of the false or fraudulent items. The absence of statute of limitation protection applies to any acts attributable to any partnership item, even if the partnership item may not have been the fraudulent one. On the other hand, the provision may not reach far enough. The Proposal would not make the unlimited statute of limitations applicable to a partner who was aware of the fraud as long as he did not sign or participate in the preparation of the return. Although it can be argued that such a person would be committing fraud when he filed his individual income tax return, an inference could be created by §6229(c)(1) that the more specific partnership statute of limitations provision would prevail over the more general individual one. A better approach would be to expand the provision to make clear that a partner who was aware of the fraud would not benefit from the statute of limitations.

Section 6229(c)(3) provides that there is no statute of limitations when a partnership fails to file a return. This may be harsh in the case of accidental or unintended partnerships. Where individuals in good faith believe they are tenants in

common and not partners, it would seem unfair for the statute of limitations to remain open indefinitely. An exception should be made if the transactions are reported on the returns of the partners and the partners believed in good faith that a partnership did not exist. Problems could also arise if the partners of a partnership did not realize that it had terminated for tax purposes in the middle of a taxable year under \$708(b) and was therefore required to file two returns for the year instead of one. Perhaps a broad exception should be made for a partnership that does not have a written partnership agreement or otherwise has a good faith reason for its failure to file.

Section 6230. Additional Administrative Provisions.
No comment.

#### Section 6231. Definitions and Special Rules.

Section 6231(a)(2) defines "partner" to include a partner and any other person whose income tax liability is determined by taking into account "directly or indirectly" partnership items of the partnership. The meaning of this provision should be clarified in the statute or the Committee reports. It may cover the situation discussed in connection with the notice provisions of whether a partner of a second-tier partnership must receive notices of administrative and judicial proceedings directly since literally he would seem to be included in the definition. This

seems inconsistent with the requirement that the second-tier partnership notify its partners. Does the definition include beneficiaries of trusts, estates, and shareholders of Subchapter S corporations that are partners? It would be difficult to treat trust beneficiaries as "partners" because of the uncertainty of determining who a trust beneficiary might be. A person might not be a current beneficiary of a trust but his income in a later year might be affected by the treatment of partnership items because of the throwback rules. In a "sprinkle" trust, a person's status as a partner would not be determined until the trustee makes a decision as to whether to distribute income or corpus to him during the trust's taxable year within which the partnership's taxable year ends.

The "other persons" in §6231(a)(2) would literally include a person who filed a joint return with a person who was a partner.

The definition of "partnership item" in §6231(a)(3) includes any items "to the extent regulations prescribed by the Secretary provide that, for purposes of this subtitle, such item is more appropriately determined at the partnership level than at the partner level." The status of the Secretary's determination of appropriateness is unclear. Read literally, this provision says nothing more than that the regulations must state that a particular item is more appropriately determined at the partnership level than at the partner level. If the intention is for these

regulations to be "legislative" with respect to a requirement that they be limited to items which in fact are more appropriately determined at the partnership level than at the partner level (which suggests a limited scope of judicial review), the provision should be revised to read as follows:

"... to the extent that the Secretary in regulations provides that such item is more appropriately determined at the partnership level than at the partner level."

If the Secretary is to be given absolute discretion in determining partnership items, the reference to the appropriateness of the determination should be deleted.

Section 6231(a)(7)(B) provides that, if no tax matters partner is designated, the tax matters partner will be the general partner having the "largest profits interest in the partnership" at the close of the taxable year at issue. As discussed above in connection with \$6223, the determination of the size of a partner's profits interest at a particular time may be difficult. Some definition of "profits interest" should be provided.

Section 6231(b)(1) indicates the circumstances in which an item will no longer be a partnership item. This seems to contemplate that the provision will be applied on a partner-by-partner basis. In order to make this clear, the words "with

respect to a partner" should be inserted after the words "nonpartnership item" in the second line.



#### DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE WASHINGTON, D.C. 20224

SMALL BUSINESS/SELF-EMPLOYED DIVISION

December 2, 2005

George M. Clarke Baker & McKenzie LLP 815 Connecticut Avenue, NW Washington, DC 20006-4078

Re: Control Number 03-2006-00234

Control of the second of the second

Dear Mr. Clarke:

We must ask for additional time to locate and consider releasing the Internal Revenue Service records covered in your October 28, 2005, Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) request received in our office November 4, 2005 seeking any administrative files of the Internal Revenue Service and the Department of the Treasury containing any and all documents regarding the draft legislative proposal that became Section 6221-6231 of the Internal Revenue Code. We will try to respond within 90 business days from the date of this letter. We are sorry for any inconvenience the delay may cause.

If you agree to this extension of time, no reply to this letter is necessary. You will still have the right to file an appeal if we subsequently deny your request. You may wish to consider limiting the scope of your request so that we can process it more quickly. If you want to limit your request, please contact the person whose name and telephone number are shown above.

If you do not agree to this extension and do not want to modify the scope of your request, you may file suit. See 5 U.S.C. 552(a)(6)(C)(i). You may not appeal this letter. See revised FOIA regulations, at 31 C.F.R. 1.5(i) and 65 FEDERAL REGISTER 40503-40516 (June 30, 2000).

To file suit you must petition the U.S. District Court in the district in which you live or work. or where the records are located, or in the District of Columbia, to obtain a response to your request. Your petition will be treated according to the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure which apply to actions against any agency of the United States. These procedures require that the IRS be notified of the pending suit, through service of process, which should be directed to:

Commissioner of Internal Revenue Attention: CC:PA:DPL 1111 Constitution Avenue, N.W. Washington, D.C. 20224

Mr. Clarke Page 2

If the court concludes you have unreasonably refused to limit your request or to accept the alternate timeframe for response, it may find that our failure to meet the statutory time frames in the FOIA is justified. See 5 U.S.C. 552(a)(6)(C)(iii).

If you have any questions, please reference the case number indicated above and contact me at IRS, Disclosure Office 3 - FOIA, 1111 Constitution Avenue, NW, IR-1565, Washington, DC 20224 or call me at (202)622-3108.

We will try to make our determination and provide the appropriate responsive information to you as quickly as possible.

Sincerely,

Janice P. Rudolph Tax Law Specialist

Disclosure Office 3 - FOIA Badge No. 50-06294 From: Peterson, Jana

Sent: Thursday, October 05, 2006 9:47 AM

To: Clarke, George M

Subject: Oct. 10, 2006 - Voice mail from Internal Revenue Service re FOIA request

Good Morning Mr. Clarke, this is Mrs. Rudolph with Internal Revenue Service. I received the message from my manager, Jill McLean, indicating that I needed to give you a call to give you a status of your FOIA request. As of April the 24th, I know you spoke to Mr. McLean and she informed you that Council has your request and we are waiting for response from them and that you were very interested in obtaining the [chapter] report as soon as possible. On that day, I also contacted our Chief Council office, as my manager instructed, to inform them that you are urgently awaiting of that information. We are still in the waiting pattern. We have not received any information or status since that time on this FOIA request. I don't know if part of it could be due to the flooding in the main building since some of their files are so voluminous they were not able to carry everything out there other site. I can't really give you explanation except for the fact we are waiting. As soon as we get something from Chief Council, I will put fort every effort I have, and I can, to get the response to you as soon as possible. I am sorry for any inconvenience this matter may cause you. Thank you very much. Bye, bye.